\mathbf{FILED}

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 3 1993

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RICHARD W. RHODES,

Appellant,

.

Case No. 79,627

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Page references to the record on appeal in case number 79,627 (the instant case) are designated with the prefix "R". Page references to the record on appeal in case number 67,842 (prior appeal of Appellant's conviction and sentence of death) are designated with the prefix "PR".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 1984, a Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, Richard Wallace Rhodes, with premeditated murder of Karen Jeter Nieradka. (R16-17) The offense allegedly occurred between February 29 and March 2, 1984. (R16)

Appellant was tried by a jury beginning on August 6, 1985, with the Honorable Helen S. Hansel presiding. (PR960) On August 19, 1985, Appellant's jury found him guilty as charged. (PR262, 2540) A penalty phase was conducted on August 27, 1985, which resulted in a seven to five death recommendation. (PR274,2750) Judge Hansel followed the recommendation, and sentenced Appellant to death on September 12, 1985. (R66-67, PR2909=2962,2985-2986)

Appellant appealed to this Court. (R68,PR305) On July 6, 1989, this Court issued its opinion in which it affirmed Appellant's conviction, but vacated his sentence of death because of several errors in the sentencing phase, and remanded for a new sentencing proceeding before a jury. (R70-84)

Appellant's new penalty phase was conducted on February 11-14, 1992, with the Honorable W. Douglas Baird presiding. $(R504-1184)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ After receiving evidence from both the State and the defense, Appellant's jury recommended by a vote of ten to two that he be sentenced to die in the electric chair. (R453,1179)

Appellant's case was initially assigned to the Honorable Anthony Rondolino, who voluntarily recused himself, for reasons not appearing in the record. (R251)

On March 20, 1992, Appellant was again sentenced to death, with Judge Baird reading his already-prepared sentencing order into the record. (R488-491,1190-1199) The court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Appellant committed the capital felony while he was under a sentence of imprisonment (that is, on parole). (R488,1192) (2) Appellant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. (R488-489,1192-1193) (3) The capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in commission of an attempted sexual battery. (R489,1193-1194) The court found two statutory mitigating circumstances, Appellant's age at the time of the offense, and that Appellant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (R489-490,1194-1196) The court found additional mitigation in the fact that Appellant was abandoned by his parents as a child and never experienced a normal family life, and that Appellant had spent most of his life in institutions that were never able to adequately address his needs. (R490,1196-1197) court specifically rejected as mitigating circumstances that Appellant suffered from extreme mental or emotional disturbance, or was under extreme duress at the time of the offense. (R490-491,1197-1198)

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on March 20, 1992. (R492) The court below adjudicated Appellant insolvent, and appointed the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit to represent him on appeal. (R493-495,499)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 2

On February 11, 1992, before Appellant's resentencing trial began, the court, counsel, and Appellant discussed a letter Appellant wrote to Judge Horace Andrews in which Appellant expressed dissatisfaction with his court-appointed attorney, John Swisher. (R408-413,508-533) The court also conducted an in-camera hearing on this matter on February 11 with only the judge, Appellant, defense counsel, and the court reporter present (R527,1205-1238), and conducted another brief in-camera hearing the following day, at which only the judge, Appellant, and the court reporter were present. (R533,1238-1241) At the February 12 hearing, Appellant stated that he was "not asking that Mr. Swisher be dismissed" as his attorney (R1240), and Swisher continued to represent Appellant during the proceedings below. (R504-1199)

During the jury selection process, after the court and the prosecutor had questioned the first group of prospective jurors, the court sua sponte excused Melissa Blackham and Chris Varellan, despite defense counsel's statement that he "want[ed] to keep her [Blackham]." (R606-607)

State's Case

The State presented the "live" testimony of four witnesses at Appellant's penalty retrial. (R795-949)

² As originally drafted, Appellant's Statement of the Facts went into more detail than what appears in this version of Appellant's brief. Appellant was forced to make substantial cuts in his recitation of the facts due to this Court's strict and arbitrary limit of 100 pages for initial briefs.

Gary Wright was formerly a police officer for the City of Coquille, Oregon. (R796) He investigated an armed robbery that occurred at Jean's Food Center on the afternoon of November 18, 1973. (R797-798) Appellant, who was 20 years old at the time, was arrested because he matched the description of the perpetrator, and on November 20, Pickett identified him as the man who committed the robbery. (R798-799,802-803,823) When Wright saw Appellant on November 20, he was crying; according to Wright, he was weeping because he had been caught. (R833)

Out of the presence of the jury, the court and counsel took up the question of the admissibility of certain statements Appellant made after his arrest. (R803-818) The court ruled the statements admissible over defense objections, but granted Appellant a standing objection to Wright's testimony regarding Appellant's statements. (R811-818)

Wright testified before the jury that on November 21, 1973, he was returning Appellant to jail following court proceedings in the armed robbery case when Appellant initiated a conversation. (R818) Appellant mentioned that he had been in a mental institution in California, and that he was going to use that as a defense to avoid prosecution for armed robbery. (R818-819) Appellant said that he was not really crazy. (R819) Wright said, "Crazy like a fox?" (R819) Appellant answered, "Yeah." (R819)

Another conversation with Appellant was conducted on November 23, 1973, after Appellant sent a note saying that he wanted to give a complete statement in exchange for a promise of psychiatric help.

(R819) This interview was taped, and lasted about 45 minutes. (R819) Wright indicated to Appellant before speaking to him that Wright could not make any promises that Appellant would spend his time in a mental institution. (R820) Appellant then told Wright that he and Chuck Woolford had discussed robbing the market on the morning of November 18. (R820) They borrowed a car from a friend of Woolford's, and obtained a .25 caliber handgun, six rounds of ammunition, and a brown wig from Woolford's mother. (R820) test-fired the gun to make sure that it was functional and that the ammunition was good. (R820) Appellant put on the wig before they got to the store. (R820-821) They parked at the rear of the store and waited until the parking lot was empty, whereupon Appellant entered the store with the handgun tucked in his belt. (R821) He produced the handgun, approached Pickett, who was alone in the store, pointed the gun at her chest, and said, "Give me all of your money." (R821) She took the money and put it on the counter, but Appellant told her to pick it up. (R821) Pickett took the money and handed it to Appellant, who put it in his pocket. (R821) Still pointing the gun at Pickett, Appellant backed out the door, ran behind the store and got in the car. (R821) They stopped at a local dump, where they disposed of the wig, and returned to Woolford's house. (R821) Appellant explained to Wright that he had Pickett pick up the money and hand it to him, and had backed out of the store, so that he would not leave any prints. (R821) When Wright asked Appellant what was going through his mind at the time of the robbery, Appellant said that he was not nervous or scared,

that he kind of got a high out of it. (R821-822) Wright testified, "I think his words were kind of gets you up." (R822) Wright asked Appellant during the interview what he would have done if a police officer had come upon the scene. (R822) Appellant answered that "it would depend on the situation, but that he would defend himself." (R822)

When Wright saw Appellant at the jail again on November 26, 1973, his "actions were totally reversed" from what Wright had seen before. (R829) Appellant was very meek and was rocking back and forth in his chair, with his head lowered to the floor. (R829)

At the times Wright spoke with Appellant, Wright was aware of Appellant's mental problems, and knew that Appellant had been in the hospital since he was a teenager. (R827)

On redirect examination of Wright, the prosecutor asked about his knowledge of Appellant's past. (R830) Wright responded that he knew that Appellant had "been in mental institutions, in jails, he had been arrested on numerous occasions." (R830) The prosecutor then asked, "Been in trouble with the law a lot?" (R830) Wright answered, "Yes, sir, and that he—[,]" whereupon he was interrupted by a defense objection on relevancy grounds, and a request that the jury be instructed to disregard Appellant's prior arrests. (R830-831) The court overruled the objection, but admonished the assistant state attorney not to "go any further with this." (R831)

Continuing with his redirect, the prosecutor asked Wright whether Appellant had been evaluated by a doctor in the course of the armed robbery case, to which the witness responded in the

affirmative. (R832) Wright testified that he had reviewed the doctor's report from the state hospital that was submitted in the case. (R832) The prosecutor then asked, "And did it indicate that he was feigning these or faking these?" (R832) Defense counsel objected to the witness repeating what a doctor's report said, but the court overruled the objection. (R832) The prosecutor then asked, "Do you recall what the doctor's report said about the defendant's mental condition?" Wright answered, "That he did not appear to have a mental condition, as I recall. I don't have that particular report with me today. But his actions on the 26th appeared to be fake to me. They weren't indicative of the action I had seen prior to that." (R833) Shortly thereafter defense counsel moved the court for a mistrial because he had never seen the doctor's report in question, and was unable to confront it. (R833-835) This time the court sustained the objection, but refused counsel's request to instruct Appellant's jury to disregard any reference to the doctor's report. (R834-835)

During Wright's testimony, the court admitted into evidence State's Exhibit Number 2AA, a certified copy of the judgment and sentence showing Appellant's conviction for the Oregon armed robbery. (R425,822)

Jerry Rowlett was formerly with the Mineral County Sheriff's Office in Hawthorne, Nevada. (R840-841) According to Rowlett, Appellant was staying at the Hawthorne Hotel on the night of April 2, 1978, when he attacked the woman who ran it, Mrs. Adducchio, with a knife and knocked her down. (R841-846) Adducchio told

Appellant that if he wanted money, she would give him all the money in the house, but Appellant said, "Lady I am going to cut your throat." (R846) Appellant apparently noticed that the door was open and got up to close it, whereupon Adducchio sat up and started screaming for help. (R846) Appellant knocked Adducchio down again, and told her that he was going to kill her, that he had a gun and would finish her off. (R846) At that point, two men who lived at the hotel came and opened the door. (R846) Appellant got up and ran to the back door going into an alley, but it was locked. (R846) Appellant broke a window, jumped through it, and apparently went down the alley. (R846)

During the struggle with Appellant, Adducchio sustained cuts on her neck, chest, and left hand as she was trying to force the knife away from her. (R847-848)

Appellant was initially charged with attempted murder in the incident, but was ultimately convicted of battery with a deadly weapon and attempted robbery as the result of a plea bargain. (R842,860,862-863)

Rowlett conceded that his testimony was based upon what other people had told him, specifically, his interview with the victim two days after the occurrence. (R862-863)

During Rowlett's testimony, the court admitted into evidence State's Exhibit Number 4AA, a certified copy of the judgment and sentence showing Appellant's conviction for the Nevada attempted robbery and battery with a deadly weapon (R427,860-861), as well as State's Exhibit Number 7AA, a color photograph of the victim, Mrs.

Adducchio, showing the injuries that she suffered during the incident. (R429,848)

Following Rowlett's testimony, the court admitted into evidence State's Exhibit Number 3AA, a certified copy of a judgment and sentencing showing that Appellant was convicted of assault in the third degree in Oregon in 1976 (R426,866), and State's Exhibit Number 5AA, a parole agreement between Appellant and the Nevada Board of Parole Commissioners from the conviction of battery with a deadly weapon, showing a parole expiration date of April 16, 1985. (R428,866-867)

Steve Porter was formerly a detective with the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department. (R872-873) On March 23, 1984, he responded to a possible homicide scene in St. Petersburg, where a decomposed body had been found that morning. (R873) A berm was being constructed at the Wyoming Antelope Gun Club of debris from buildings that were being torn down in the area, for the purpose of preventing projectiles from going beyond the firing range. (R873) In the debris, which included a yellow police and fire tape, Porter observed a badly decomposed female body. (R874,885) He did not see any clothing except for a brassiere, still fastened, that "had been pulled up, appeared to be, over the top," and was "up around the neck and shoulder area," and a silver chain with a silver medallion with a black stone in the middle. (R874,923) Some of the debris consisted of green-colored wood, which Porter later learned came from the old Sunset Hotel in Clearwater, which had been torn down on March 15. (R875) Mr. Porter noticed that the right leg from the body was missing from the kneecap down. (R876) [(It was found at a later date. (R923)] Also, there was a hole in the neck, and a large hole in the right arm. (R876) An autopsy was conducted at the medical examiner's office that day, which revealed several fractured bones, including the hyoid bone. (R876-877)

That night, Porter received a tentative identification of the body as being that of Karen Jeter Nieradka, which was later confirmed through her fingerprints, which were on file at the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office. (R878-879,926) He met with the victim's husband, Richard Nieradka, who stated that he and the victim were separated, and that he had last seen her on February 15, 1984 at a bar in Clearwater called Angel's. (R879-880) Nieradka also said that his wife had been driving a white 1973 Dodge Dart that was her only means of transportation, and with which she would not have parted. (R880)

The next day, Porter learned that Nieradka's car was at West-side Storage in Crystal River, Florida; it had been impounded when Trooper Drawdy of the Florida Highway Patrol stopped Appellant on March 2, 1984. (R880-881) Drawdy told Porter that upon being asked how he came to be in possession of the car, Appellant told Drawdy that his girlfriend, Linda, whose last name he could not pronounce, had loaned him the car. (R881) Drawdy found a name tag in Appellant's pocket with the name "Richard Nieradka" on it; Appellant could not explain why he had this tag. (R881) Porter spoke with Richard Nieradka again, and learned that his wife had used the tag as a key chain. (R882) Porter went to the storage facility in

Crystal River where the car was located and made some observations of the car's contents, including a red felt tip pen that was on the dashboard. (R882)

On March 26, 1984, Porter and Detective Leroy Kelly of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office interviewed Appellant at the Citrus County Sheriff's Office. (R882-883) When Porter advised Appellant that they were conducting a criminal investigation, Appellant said, "I know why you're here. You're here on a murder investigation." (R883) This surprised Porter, and led him to consult with Detective George Simpson of the Citrus County Sheriff's Office, who informed Porter that he had not told Appellant that the Pinellas detectives were there on a murder investigation. (R885)³ Appellant then gave the detectives various stories pertaining to Karen Nieradka. In one of them, he stated that he had dropped Nieradka and someone named "Bear" off at the beach, which he changed to the Sunset Hotel, on February 29 or March 1, 1984, and had not seen them again. (R886-888) In another version, Appellant said that he had dropped Nieradka and a man named "Crazy Angel" off at the Sunset Hotel, presumably for the purpose of having sex. (R890-892,895-896,900) Crazy Angel came back alone, and when Appellant asked about Nieradka, Crazy Angel said she was dead. (R891-893,896-897,901) Crazy Angel paid Appellant to drive Nieradka's car out of the state. (R891,893,896,899) another story, Appellant said that he transported Nieradka, Kermit

Porter's testimony regarding what Simpson told him came in over defense objections. (R883-885)

Villanueva, and Crazy Angel to the hotel and parked at a gas station across the street while the others went inside. (R902-903) After about 20 minutes, Appellant went inside to see what was happening. (R902-903) He found Nieradka and the three men on the third floor; Crazy Angel had his hands around her throat and was strangling her. (R903) Nieradka was not fighting but was "laying there very peaceful." (R903-904) When Porter asked why Nieradka's clothes had been removed if there had been no rape, Appellant replied that although there was no rape, he knew for a fact that she had had sex a couple of hours before her death. (R904) He went on to say that the three men held her down and pulled her jeans down. (R904) He said that "her ass was grass and she knew it," and that she "fought pretty good, too." (R904) Appellant then changed his story again, and said that it was Villanueva who was responsible for killing Nieradka, and that Appellant had learned about her death after the fact. (R904-907) In one of the two versions Appellant told naming Villanueva alone as the responsible party, he stated that Villanueva told him Nieradka was killed because she "didn't want to put out," and Villanueva tried to hold her down and choked her in the process. (R906-907) In another version involving Villanueva, Appellant said that he was present with him and Nieradka in the Sunset Hotel. (R907-909) The other two were drunk, but Appellant was sober. (R908) Villanueva struck Nieradka and tried to stab her with a piece of wood. (R908) She did not resist or struggle. (R908) Villanueva raped Nieradka, despite Appellant's efforts to get him to stop. (R908-909) Appellant denied that he raped or killed Nieradka. (R909)

Another interview was conducted with Appellant on March 29, 1984. (R911-912) This time Appellant stated that he had talked to Villanueva after the killing when Villanueva asked him to help get rid of the body, but Appellant refused. (R911-912) He did agree, however, to get rid of Nieradka's car. (R912) Appellant also told the detectives that he could not have killed anyone, as he had neurological damage to his arms as a result of being cut on several occasions, and was incapable of choking anyone. (R912)

Appellant was interviewed once more on April 12, 1984. (R914) Among other things, he stated that he was telling "all these stories to push it off on someone else so I don't end up in the electric chair." (R914-915)

Detective Porter served an arrest warrant on Appellant for the murder of Karen Nieradka on April 27, 1984. (R917) While being transported from the Citrus County Sheriff's Office to Pinellas County, Appellant said that if the detectives could promise that he would spend his life in a mental hospital facility, he would tell them how Nieradka died. (R917) He then indicated that she died accidentally, as a result of a fall from the third floor of the Sunset Hotel, at which point Appellant began smiling. (R917-918) When asked if he was lying, Appellant said that Detective Porter

would not get the truth until after Appellant was convicted. $(R198)^4$

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