IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD WALLACE RHODES,

Appellant,

v.

Ŧ

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 79,627

SID J. WHITE AUG 2 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Westwood Center Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Dr. Taylor saw no evidence for an opinion that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was impaired (R 1067).

State rebuttal witness Dr. Sidney Merin opined that Rhodes was not under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (R 1084). He did not suffer from any kind of mental disturbance; his problems are more behavioral (R 1088). Rhodes had an antisocial personality. Merin opined that Rhodes was <u>not</u> under extreme duress when the crime was committed (R 1089). He

- 1 -

understood right from wrong and was capable of conforming his behavior to the requirements of law (R 1090). He noted that appellant's I.Q. score of 82 would place him at the lower end of the dull normal range but it could be appellant simply declined or refused to involve himself in the testing process; other documents suggest he's a very bright person (R 1091); Dr. Merin found no indication of history of blackout or alcohol abuse in the records (R 1093). He will tell you what you want to hear or whatever it takes to manipulate the listener. He gave different versions of the crime because they were self-serving for a "fantasy spinner" (R 1093 - 94).

The defense also introduced defense exhibit 2 which contained medical and prison records (Vol. 5). Included in that material was a questionnaire filled out by Don Betterley an Activity Specialist at the Napa State Hospital who described Rhodes as a pathological liar and also stated that Rhodes was imaginative and had a brilliant mind, and was a con artist.

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The lower court did not commit error in excusing juror Melissa Blackham. The juror expressed the inability to follow the law, the defense sought not to ask rehabilitating questions but only to keep the juror and recognized that an excusal for cause would be unchallengeable.

II. The lower court did not err reversibly in permitting hearsay evidence at the resentencing. He did not object on hearsay grounds to Rowlett's testimony and the issue is not preserved for appellate review. As to witness Gary Wright, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a mistrial request when the witness opined he thought the defendant was faking. As to the reading of prior testimony of witnesses Duranseau, Allen and Cottrell, appellant interposed no specific hearsay objection to particular portions of the testimony. Appellant below only objected pro forma to the reading of the testimony and appears to have accepted that the court would allow it if the Court were satisfied as to the unavailability of the witness.

III. The lower court did not err reversibly in permitting allegedly irrelevant matters to be injected because they were not irrelevant, the facts and circumstances of appellant's prior conviction were properly admitted. The testimony regarding appellant's admissions about the Oregon robbery was proper and statements about his use of an insanity defense are relevant to rebut the mental mitigating factors urged on his behalf at this

- 3 -

sentencing. Moreover, any error must be deemed harmless in light of the defense's voluminous evidence regarding his manipulative and deceptive behavior. Any claim that the statements were involuntary is meritless.

IV. Appellant's claim of a <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 violation in the prosecutor's voir dire examination was unobjected to and unpreserved for appellate review. The claim is also meritless. The trial judge did not denigrate the jury's role. Appellant was satisfied with the written jury instruction given the jury and did not complain of any prior misstatement.

V. The lower court's finding of homicide committed during an attempted sexual battery is supported by the evidence and not merely a reliance on this Court's prior opinion.

VI. The trial court adequately provided an opportunity for appellant to speak prior to sentencing. Also, the court's analysis in its sentencing order is not defective.

VII. The imposition of the death sentence is not disproportionate in the instant case. Appellant has been convicted of prior felonies involving violence, the trial court gave appropriate consideration to the mitigating evidence proffered and correctly determined that death was the appropriate sanction.

VIII. Appellee submits that only one written judgment is appropriate; the subsequent declaration adjudicating appellant guilty is extraneous.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY EXCUSING FOR CAUSE A JUROR WHO WAS ALLEGEDLY QUALIFIED TO SERVE.

Appellant contends that the lower court erred in excusing for cause juror Melissa Blackham for her views on capital punishment. Ms. Blackham had expressed the view that:

> "I don't feel comfortable making a decision on life or death when I wasn't a party to the process beforehand."

> > (R 574)

This answer was in response to a question regarding the fact that this jury had not decided Rhodes' guilt since guilt had previously been determined by another jury.

Then this exchange ensued:

"Mr. Mooney: . . . Is that about imposing -- in other words, if you had to put yourself on one side you're more toward not imposing than imposing?

Venirewoman Blackham: Probably."

(R 586)

Then:

Okay. One of the things that MR. MOONEY: you undoubtedly will see in this trial are some pictures. And suffice it to say they're not going to be pictures of a enjoyable Is there anyone that feels as nature, okay. though because they may have to view these photographs, and you're going to have to look at them. Your know, you all want to hear the circumstances of the crime. We're going to give you the pictures and the testimony. Is there anyone that feels as though they couldn't look at pictures? And I really

can't come up with a nice artful word, but they're -- it's going to take some intestinal fortitude. Is that going to bother anybody?

VENIREMAN STONER: I've had some real experience and got over it, you know. Don't bother me any more.

MR. MOONEY: Miss Blackham, what do you think? Do you think that's going to upset you too much?

VENIREWOMAN BLACKHAM: Probably.

(emphasis supplied) (R 600)

* * *

I'm going to sit down for now. MR. MOONEY: Is there anything that we've talked about -we haven't talked about that you want to bring to our attention? Here's your last chance to say it. The judge gave you all the opportunity at the beginning when we read to you the fact that he was convicted of first degree murder, of looking at life imprisonment with no possibility of parole twenty-five or death for years, by electrocution, and I was surprised that people didn't raise their hand. Are there people now that after they heard this and talked about it a little bit that basically just want to say no, I don't want make this decision?

VENIREWOMAN BLACKHAM: I don't. I thought I made that clear.

(R 600 - 601)

Defense counsel began to make inquiry of Blackham about her family background when the court asked if there were any reason to keep Blackham and Varellan. Defense counsel declared, "I want to keep her." and, "I'd like to keep her." The Court noted that it knew the defense would like to keep here since she said she didn't want to do it and defense counsel rejoined:

- 6 -

"MR. SWISHER: Judge, if you do that for cause I can't say anything about it."

(R 606)

Significantly, appellant below did not contend that the juror should be allowed to remain because she satisfied the criteria of Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985), nor did he contend that he desired to ask questions to rehabilitate the juror or otherwise clarify whatever the defense might deem to be ambiguous. Rather, the defense merely announced that it wanted the juror, not unexpected desire since venirewoman Blackham had already declared that looking at photos of the crime would upset here too much, and she did not want to be involved in the decision of life or death. We respectfully submit that any defendant would want to have such a reluctant juror since it effectively amounts to an automatic life vote and potential Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975) protection. Not only did appellant fail to seek to rehabilitate the juror by further questioning, but also acknowledged that an excusal for cause ruling would be unchallengeable (" . . . if you do that for cause I can't say anything about it.").

Both the United States Supreme Court in <u>Witt</u>, supra, and this Honorable Court in <u>Green v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 647, 652 (Fla. 1991) have recognized the primary vantage point occupied by the trial judge in seeing and hearing the prospective jurors to determine the candor and quality of the answers given to the questions presented. See also <u>State v. Williams</u>, 465 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1985); Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990).

- 7 -

Appellant argues that the lower court was not making a proper "Witherspoon-Witt" excusal because Blackham earlier in the questioning had indicated the her death penalty views would not impair her ability to make a decision. But she also conceded being "bothered" or uncomfortable participating in a decision when she had not been part of the guilt-determining process (R 574). Irrespective of what her initial earlier responses may have been, the point remains that the more venirewoman Blackham thought about the problems and tasks confronting her -- including review of photos not of an enjoyable nature (R 599 - 600), the more she realized she would not be able to follow the Court's instructions and perform the duties of a juror <u>Adams v. Texas</u>, **448** U.S. 38, 65 L.Ed.2d 581 (1980).

To the extent that appellant is also complaining about the excusal of juror Varellan, clearly, there is no error. Varellan had expressed the opinion that he had "weak tolerance for rape, of murderers and people who maim people . . . I think we should get rid of themI don't believe in our rehabilitation process" (R 557). When asked if he could follow the law, he replied, "I don't know if I could honestly" (R 566). He also remarked about "an eye for an eye and a tooth for a tooth" (R 581) and "would have a hard time living after it" if serving as a juror in an murder trial (R 582). He nodded affirmatively when asked if he were a person that didn't want to make that decision (R 601). Significantly, when the court asked if there were any reasons to keep jurors Blackham and Varellan, defense counsel

- 8 -

sought only "to keep her" (Melissa Blackham) (R 606). He neither wanted Varellan nor sought to ask rehabilitating questions. See <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985) (J. Stevens concurring, the failure to object to dismissal of one juror when objecting to another lends credence to view that he did not want juror unobjected to to serve).

The instant case is distinguishable from <u>O'Connell v. State</u>, 480 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1985) relied on by appellant; there the trial court denied counsel the opportunity to examine or rehabilitate the jurors. Here, the defense sought not to rehabilitate but merely to "keep" Blackham and had no complaint at all about the removal of Varellan.

Appellant's claim is without merit.

- 9 -

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN PERMITTING HEARSAY EVIDENCE AT THE RESENTENCING.

Appellant cites as an example of the hearsay evidence he complains about the testimony from Jerry Rowlett that he was not an eyewitness to the attempted murder of Mrs. Adducchio and he relied on what people told him (R 862). But, appellant offered no hearsay objection below to Rowlett's testimony (R 840 - 864). So this claim is not preserved for appellate review. <u>Steinhorst</u> v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

Appellant alludes to the testimony of Detective Steve Porter who testified that he was surprised when Rhodes told him he knew why they were there to talk to him, i.e. about a murder investigation and Porter asked Detective Simpson if he had told Rhodes they were on a murder investigation. Simpson had not (R Defense counsel first objected that the state was 883 ~ 885). attempting to retry the guilt phase. The court ruled that since this was a new jury who didn't hear the guilt phase testimony, they were entitled to know it. The defense then objected on hearsay grounds and the prosecutor responded the issue was the defense could rebut the hearsay and the defense whether could do so by calling Simpson (R 884 - 855)¹ Appellant also

- 10 -

¹ Appellee notes that Simpson did testify in the original trial and stated he did not tell Rhodes that the detectives were coming to speak to him about a murder investigation, that the detectives would explain why they needed to talk to him (OR 1803 - 04).

notes a complaint below when Porter testified about what Rebecca Borton told Detective Hastings about seeing Karen Nieradka with appellant Rhodes (R 909 - 911).² The prosecutor argued that the defense had the opportunity to rebut with Detective Hastings (R 911). While appellant notes these incidents of hearsay in passing, apparently he chooses to concentrate on the Gary Wright testimony and the prior testimony of three "jailhouse snitches" read to the jury. Brief, P. 53.

A review of Gary Wright's testimony -- this witness provided evidence of appellant's armed robbery in Oregon in 1973 -- shows that a defense objection on hearsay grounds was interposed when the witness testified about what a doctor's report contained. When appellant requested a mistrial, the court sustained the defense objection because the defense did not have an opportunity The defense asked for an instruction to disregard to rebut it. any reference to the doctor's report and the court responded that he didn't think there had been any reference to it, the defense argued the witness testified the doctor's report said Rhodes was The court answered the witness said he thought he was faking. faking (R 834). The witness had testified a page earlier: "But his actions on the 26th appeared to be faked to me." The trial court correctly denied any additional relief as the witness was only describing his reaction -- that he thought Rhodes was

- 11 -

² Borton testified in the earlier trial seeing Karen and appellant on February 29, 1984) (OR 1620 - 21).

faking -- not describing the conclusion reached in a medical report by an expert. The trial court did not abuse his discretion in concluding that a mistrial was not necessary. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

Appellant next complains about the testimony of jail inmates Harvey Duranseau, Michael Allen, and Edward Cottrell which had been given in the former trial and now reread to this jury at resentencing. To the extent that appellant may now be offering a specific complaint about particular testimony of these three witness he may not do so since he did not raise that complaint below.³ Steinhorst, supra; Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 907 (Fla. 1990). Even if this point had been preserved for appellate review, it is meritless as this Court merely noted in a footnote that the claim was without merit. Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1203, n. 2 (Fla. 1989). While it is generally true to say that "quilt is not at issue in the penalty phase" Derrick v. 581 So. 2d 31, 36 (Fla. 1991), the Court has also State, recognized that comments deemed prejudicial and out of place in the guilt phase may be permissible at penalty phase. Muchleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 1987). Obviously, more leeway would seem appropriate in a context like the instant one where

- 12 -

³ Appellant cites as outrageous, the Michael Allen (not Duranseau as stated in appellant's brief) testimony that Rhodes threatened to kill anyone who snitched on him (PR 2083), but he did not urge the trial court in this proceeding that he had a particular problem with certain testimony and that some of it should be excised. The claim is procedurally barred.

the jury at a resentencing proceeding did not have the benefit of hearing most of the prior guilt phase testimony. Even if the Court deemed this remark to be error it would clearly be harmless as the prosecutor in closing argument did not urge or even refer to Allen's statement that Rhodes would kill a snitch (R 1123 - 45).⁴

Turning now to the trial court's permitting the reading of prior testimony of Duranseau, Allen, and Cottrell, appellant now complains, apparently, that the state failed to establish the unavailability of the witnesses and the steps taken to secure their appearance. The transcript below reflects that appellant submitted a pro forma objection predicated on *Rule 3.640(b)* ("I have to raise it for the record" -- R 950). The prosecutors responded to the objection:

MR. MOONEY: Right. Joy is going to say they're out -- in custody out of state. One's in custody in Daytona Beach.

MR. SWISHER: The only statement I would make, if they're in custody, they may be available. You have to decide. That's it.

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